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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Good afternoon.

          3  I'm used to morning hearings. Thank you, Council

          4  Member Kendall Stewart. I'm welcoming you to the

          5  Committee on Higher Education's joint hearing with

          6  the Subcommittee on Immigration and joining us is

          7  the Chairperson of that Committee, Council Member

          8  Kendall Stewart, and for the Higher Education

          9  Committee we have Council Member Larry Seabrook,

         10  Council Member Miguel Martinez, Council Member Gale

         11  Brewer, and we want to welcome you to our Committee

         12  on Higher Education.

         13                 We're going to be having a hearing on

         14  Resolution Number 498-A. We'll have our hearing at

         15  this Committee hearing, and then in April we'll vote

         16  it out of Committee, so we just want to make sure

         17  that we got our hearing in for technical reasons.

         18  You do the hearing, and then if there's any changes

         19  that come from the hearing, then we'll vote it out

         20  at our next meeting.

         21                 So, I want to begin by reading my

         22  opening statement to you, and then Council Member

         23  Kendall Stewart will read his and then we'll proceed

         24  with the witness.

         25                 And before I read that, we will not

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  accept a tuition hike in CUNY. We're not going to

          3  let it happen. Not going to let it happen. We'll be

          4  fighting that I think on March 11th. We're going to

          5  have a massive mobilization for Albany, and March

          6  11th, March 11th we're going to have a massive,

          7  massive student mobilization up in Albany, so mark

          8  your calendars March 11th. If any of you can join us

          9  tomorrow, the Black and Latino Legislative Caucus

         10  Weekend is tomorrow, June 14th -- June 14 --

         11  tomorrow. Whatever date that is, tomorrow, in the

         12  afternoon at twelve noon up in Albany we're going to

         13  have a press conference with students and myself to

         14  let the legislators know, let the town of Albany

         15  know that we will not accept a tuition hike. If they

         16  want to hike something, hike tax on millionaires,

         17  they've got plenty of money, hike tax on the

         18  corporations, or hike tax on the commuter tax, bring

         19  that back. There's plenty, plenty of ways to balance

         20  the budget, it really not a difficult thing to

         21  figure out. We've just got to make sure that they

         22  prioritize the people over the party, the people

         23  over profits.

         24                 I would like to welcome my

         25  colleagues, and I named them for you already. The
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          2  purpose of today's hearing is to discuss Resolution

          3  498-A, which proposes that federal legislation be

          4  enacted, that changes national policy on tuition at

          5  colleges and universities.

          6                 Previous to late in the Year 2002,

          7  New York State chartered non-resident tuition rates

          8  to undocumented immigrant students, rather than

          9  resident tuition rates, despite these students

         10  having resided in New York State for many, many

         11  years.

         12                 After intense lobbying by many

         13  advocacy groups, CUNY's administration, elected

         14  officials, including the Council's Higher Education

         15  Committee, in late 2002, the New York State

         16  Legislature enacted legislation to remedy this

         17  unjust situation.

         18                 Today the members of the Committee

         19  will consider Resolution Number 498-A which calls

         20  upon the United States Congress to pass legislation

         21  repealing the provisions of federal law that

         22  discourage state from providing in-state tuition

         23  rates to undocumented immigrants and permitting

         24  long-time resident use with good moral character who

         25  move on to higher education to attain permanent
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          2  resident status.

          3                 Many students affected by the current

          4  laws are of lower and middle income backgrounds, as

          5  well as being of diverse ethnic and racial

          6  backgrounds.

          7                 For example, the recent change in New

          8  York State law has resulted in substantially

          9  decreasing the cost of obtaining a CUNY education

         10  and diploma for undocumented and out-of-status

         11  immigrant students.

         12                 CUNY's tuition charges for full-time

         13  undergraduate study at the community colleges are

         14  $1,250 per semester for residents, and $1,538 for

         15  non-residents per semester.

         16                 At the senior colleges, the tuition

         17  charges for full-time undergraduate study are $1,600

         18  per semester for residents and $3,400 for

         19  non-residents per semester.

         20                 The lower resident of tuition is

         21  crucial. To these particular students ability to

         22  stay in school and graduate with CUNY degrees. We

         23  believe that access and excellence and higher

         24  education for all inclusive of diverse races and

         25  ethnic backgrounds must not be jeopardized.
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          2                 For those of you who wish to testify,

          3  we'll have you come up right after we hear an

          4  opening statement and opening remark from the Chair

          5  of the Subcommittee on Immigration, Council Member

          6  Kendall Stewart.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair.

          9                 We cannot overstate the importance of

         10  education, both the individual and to the community

         11  at large. It is within all of our interests to

         12  encourage as many youths as possible to attend

         13  institutions of higher education regardless of their

         14  legal status.

         15                 In terms of financial stability,

         16  education is extremely valuable. A study recently

         17  released by the US Census Bureau demonstrates the

         18  economic benefits of higher education. The Census

         19  Bureau report shows that those who do not complete

         20  high school earn on average $18,900 compared to

         21  $25,900 for a high school graduate, and $45,400 for

         22  college graduates.

         23                 The resolution that we are discussing

         24  today, proposed Resolution 498-A, calls on Congress

         25  to pass legislation that will accomplish two goals:
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          2                 Repeal federal laws that discourage

          3  states from providing in-state tuition rates to

          4  undocumented immigrants; and

          5                 Two, allow undocumented immigrant

          6  students who move on to higher education to receive

          7  permanent resident status in the United States.

          8                 In New York, the first issue has been

          9  addressed, but federal legislation will add strength

         10  to current state law that allows undocumented

         11  immigrants who have lived in New York and graduated

         12  from New York High Schools to pay in-state tuition

         13  rates at CUNY and SUNY.

         14                 In addition, it is my belief that

         15  undocumented immigrants who demonstrate a commitment

         16  to education and are of good moral character are

         17  worthy of permanent resident status in the United

         18  States.

         19                 These are children who were brought

         20  to this country, United States, at a young age by

         21  their parents. They grew up here and went to school

         22  here, and are pursuing their dreams of higher

         23  education. They deserve legal status in this

         24  country.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 We've been joined by Council Member

          5  John Liu, we want to welcome him to the hearing.

          6                 And we're going to start with our

          7  first witness, but we also want to remind people

          8  that the immigrant population in New York City and

          9  New York State has contributed tremendous,

         10  tremendously to the economy, to the culture and to

         11  the politic of New York City and New York State, and

         12  they are viable assets to our community, and we on

         13  the Higher Education Committee are totally committed

         14  to seeing to it that they have access to education

         15  and access to excellence just as everybody else, and

         16  with that we'll call our first witness.

         17                 MS. BOLANOS: The first witness is

         18  Professor Robert Smith from Barnard College.

         19                 Please raise your right hand.

         20                 Do you swear that the testimony

         21  you're about to give before this Committee is the

         22  whole truth and that you will answer Council Member

         23  questions truthfully?

         24                 PROFESSOR SMITH: I do.

         25                 MS. BOLANOS: Thank you.
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          2                 State your name and organization for

          3  the record.

          4                 You need to press in the button in

          5  front of the mic.

          6                 PROFESSOR SMITH: Robert Smith. I'm a

          7  Professor at Barnard College.

          8                 First I'd like to thank Council

          9  Members Barron and Stewart and the other members of

         10  the Committee for having these hearings on this

         11  important issue. I know this has been an issue

         12  fought long and hard for and people recognize that

         13  and appreciate it, so thank you.

         14                 I'm going to make three arguments in

         15  support of this resolution that I hope will be heard

         16  here and beyond these walls. A moral argument, an

         17  educational argument and an economic argument, and I

         18  think that there's a timer there, so I'll make them

         19  quickly.

         20                 The moral argument is that this law

         21  is very consistent with the logic implicit in the

         22  Supreme Court's decision of Plyer versus Doe, in

         23  which they seek to prevent the formation of a

         24  permanent cast of underclass, of undocumented

         25  immigrants, and I would think removing unnecessary
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          2  obstacles to the educational achievement of

          3  undocumented immigrants would fall quite squarely

          4  into that category.

          5                 I would also add that if you think

          6  about the logic behind the illegal immigration

          7  reform and personal responsibility act, you're

          8  looking at a group of individuals, who an

          9  undocumented student, by the time he or she has

         10  graduated from high school, is already in the top 30

         11  percent of any given high school in the City because

         12  two-thirds of the students don't graduate, and then

         13  less than have then go on to college, so you're

         14  talking about somebody who is in the top 15 percent

         15  of the class of the people who entered to begin

         16  with, and with no financial, people making very

         17  little money. To me that shows a great deal of

         18  personal responsibility and it seems like it would

         19  make a lot of sense to reward such an initiative.

         20                 The second argument I'm going to make

         21  is educational. I cannot underestimate the

         22  importance of a bill like this, giving in-state

         23  tuition to undocumented workers. I'll outline two

         24  reasons why.

         25                 One of them is that the educational
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          2  aspirations of undocumented immigrants become

          3  depressed, how much schooling they think they can

          4  get and what they want to actually do gets depressed

          5  because they think that they're not allowed to go to

          6  college, despite the fact that in New York City -- I

          7  should say, I've been doing research over the last

          8  15 years with undocumented immigrants in the City,

          9  focusing the last five years on educational issues,

         10  I've been funded by the National Science Foundation,

         11  the National Academy of Education, Social Science

         12  Research Council, the Oral History Project, and a

         13  number of other places.

         14                 There's two logics here. One is that

         15  undocumented immigrants come to believe that they're

         16  not allowed to go to school, to college, even though

         17  in New York State, in New York City this has been

         18  possible.

         19                 This means that there comes to be a

         20  sort of rhetoric circulated among them that college

         21  is good but it's not for us. This needs to be

         22  changed, and one of the ways that it gets changed is

         23  to remove the obstacles and to make people know

         24  about this.

         25                 The second piece here is that it also
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          2  depresses the aspirations, the educational

          3  aspirations of US citizen children, because those

          4  undocumented children are in school with US citizen

          5  children, they're friends with US citizen children,

          6  they could be in the same family as those US citizen

          7  children, and kids talk to each other, and, so, you

          8  are indirectly but quite concretely also harming US

          9  citizen children in their attempts to achieve higher

         10  education in the longrun.

         11                 Now, the third piece of my argument

         12  is that this makes absolutely no economic sense not

         13  to do this. Doing this makes all the economic sense

         14  in the world and I have some numbers.

         15                 Annually in the United States,

         16  between 50 and 65,000 undocumented students will

         17  graduate from high school across the country. About

         18  ten percent of them, or 5,000 to 6,500 will be in

         19  New York City, and this is per year.

         20                 Now, based on other calculations that

         21  I've done, over the course of a 40-year working

         22  lifetime, the idea is this, if you graduate from

         23  college, you make more money. If you make more

         24  money, you pay more money in taxes, and so if we

         25  don't pass this bill we are effectively forfeiting
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          2  the future tax revenue from the higher income that

          3  these people will earn.

          4                 I've estimated that at a minimum it

          5  will cost $2 billion per cohort to New York City to

          6  New York over the 40-year working lifetime of these

          7  individuals. Now, this is per cohort. That means

          8  that over 20 years it's going to cost at least $40

          9  billion to New York based on this, and that

         10  nationally it will cost over $400 billion in

         11  foregone tax revenue.

         12                 Now, the other piece of it is, it

         13  cost nothing to pass this bill. It's not as if these

         14  undocumented immigrant students are getting a lot of

         15  financial aid, they're doing it on their own. They

         16  are the epitome of personal responsibility.

         17                 So, in these times when we've done

         18  huge and illogical tax cuts for people that don't

         19  need them, and when we're spending money on lots of

         20  things we shouldn't be spending money on to give, to

         21  forego $400 billion of income on a national level

         22  that cost us nothing up front seems to me to be

         23  quite illogical and must be motivated by some other,

         24  not to pass this bill, have to be motivated by some

         25  other kind of animus and makes no sense.
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          2                 So, again, I thank the Committee for

          3  giving me this chance to speak, and I certainly hope

          4  that the word goes out beyond these four walls.

          5  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          7  much for your testimony.

          8                 Are there any questions that my

          9  colleagues have?

         10                 Council Member Stewart.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Professor

         12  Smith, we know that we would like to get the DREAM

         13  Act, a bill like the DREAM Act passed. If this was

         14  to happen, approximately how many students in New

         15  York City would you think would receive permanent

         16  resident status?

         17                 PROFESSOR SMITH: I think, and I

         18  should mention the demographic work I'm drawing here

         19  is from Michael Ficks and Jeffrey Pastel from the

         20  Urban Institute, 5,000 to 6,500 a year, and I'm not

         21  sure if this is New York City or New York State, but

         22  the numbers are not going to be that different

         23  because most of the undocumented people, the large

         24  majority are going to be in New York City.

         25                 But I would say at least 5,000 per
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          2  year. So, over ten years 50,000, over ten years at

          3  least 100,000. That's a pretty big chunk of people.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And

          5  nationwide how many students do you think will get

          6  that status?

          7                 PROFESSOR SMITH: Well, over ten years

          8  you're talking at least 500, at least half a million

          9  students, to 650,000 students.

         10                 This is not an inconsequential bill

         11  and it costs nothing to do it, in addition to being

         12  the right thing to do.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We've also been

         15  joined by Council Member Margarita Lopez, and

         16  Council Member and Deputy Majority Leader Bill

         17  Perkins.

         18                 Any other questions?

         19                 We thank you very much for your

         20  testimony.

         21                 PROFESSOR SMITH: Thank you.

         22                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next witness is Vice

         23  Chancellor Otis Hill and Mr. Allan Wernick of the

         24  City University of New York.  Please raise your

         25  right hand.
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          2                 Do you each swear that the testimony

          3  you're about to provide before this Committee is the

          4  whole truth and that you will answer Council Member

          5  questions truthfully?

          6                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: I do.

          7                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Yes.

          8                 MS. BOLANOS: Thank you. Please state

          9  your name and organization for the record before you

         10  begin your testimony.

         11                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Otis Hill, Vice

         12  Chancellor for Student Development, City University

         13  of New York.

         14                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Allan Wernick,

         15  Chair of the CUNY's Citizenship and Immigration

         16  Project and Professor at Hostos College.

         17                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Good afternoon,

         18  Chairman Barron, Chairman Stewart, and members of

         19  the New York City Council Higher Education Committee

         20  and Subcommittee on Immigration.

         21                 As I stated before, I'm Otis Hill,

         22  Vice Chancellor for Student Development and

         23  Enrollment at the City University of New York, and

         24  I'm joined by Allan Wernick from CUNY's Citizenship

         25  and Immigration Project and a professor at Hostos
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          2  Community College.

          3                 I appreciate the opportunity to

          4  testify on behalf of Chancellor Goldstein and the

          5  University in support of the principles inherent in

          6  Council Resolution Number 498 relating to the

          7  Congressional Student Adjustment Act and the DREAM

          8  Act.

          9                 These federal bills will grant

         10  permanent residence to thousands of undocumented

         11  students at New York City and further will allow the

         12  University to make generous policies regarding the

         13  tuition required from undocumented students.

         14                 I would like to take this opportunity

         15  to commend the City Council, the members of these

         16  committees and their chairs, Council Members Barron

         17  and Stewart, for proposing Resolution 498.

         18                 The University is on record

         19  supporting the DREAM Act and we look forward to

         20  working with the Council to assure its passage.

         21                 Chancellor Goldstein has twice

         22  written to Congress indicating his support for the

         23  principal and remedy inherent in this important

         24  legislation.

         25                 In June 2002, the Chancellor wrote to
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          2  Senator Patrick Leahy, then Chairman of the United

          3  States Senate Judiciary Committee, urging his

          4  support for the DREAM Act.

          5                 He reiterated his support in

          6  September 2002, writing to Congressional leaders in

          7  both the House and the Senate that, and I quote:

          8                 "We are pleased that the law will

          9  grant permanent residence to thousands of

         10  undocumented young people who have demonstrated both

         11  good moral character and a commitment to live, study

         12  and contribute to their communities. We are pleased

         13  also that the law eliminates the federal provision

         14  of the 1996 immigration law that discourages states

         15  from providing in-state tuition to undocumented

         16  students. This provision has prevented many

         17  deserving students from continuing their education."

         18                 We like to call CUNY the

         19  immigrant-friendly university, yet despite our

         20  efforts, access to higher education is still

         21  unavailable to many undocumented students.

         22                 Federal laws have limited our ability

         23  to provide higher education to this group by

         24  restricting our ability to define which students

         25  qualify for resident tuition.
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          2                 While state legislation has done much

          3  to ameliorate this problem, and, again, we thank the

          4  City Council for its efforts, the law mandates that

          5  many undocumented students pay the higher

          6  out-of-state tuition. Further, as undocumented

          7  students are ineligible for state and federal

          8  financial aid, many cannot afford to study at all

          9  and others are forced to study part-time.

         10                 Limitations placed on our financial

         11  aid programs by state and federal law harm

         12  undocumented students the most. The law bars

         13  undocumented students from receiving TAP, Pell and

         14  other government-financed programs.

         15                 If students get permanent residence

         16  under the proposed DREAM Act/Student Adjustment Act,

         17  they will join other CUNY students in becoming

         18  financial-aid eligible.

         19                 Still, we make every effort to make

         20  CUNY available to undocumented and other immigrant

         21  students. We believe that CUNY's immigration law

         22  student counseling service is the most advanced

         23  program of its type in the United States.

         24                 Our Citizenship and Immigration

         25  Project began in 1997 by providing CUNY's students,
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          2  staff, faculty and their friends and families

          3  assistance in applying for US citizenship.

          4                 The project now has three

          5  campus-based immigration law counseling centers

          6  providing comprehensive immigration counseling

          7  services to the CUNY community.

          8                 These centers are housed at City

          9  College, New York City College of Technology and

         10  Queensborough Community College.

         11                 By providing immigration counseling

         12  services, CUNY helps its students get and maintain

         13  legal immigration status.

         14                 The University remains deeply

         15  committed to maintaining its proud tradition of

         16  welcoming and educating all immigrants. That

         17  tradition was forged over many generations and is

         18  reflected in the extraordinary diversity of our

         19  student body. We wholeheartedly support Resolution

         20  498 before this Committee today and will continue

         21  working with you to assure the passage of the

         22  legislation.

         23                 At this time Professor Wernick and I

         24  will gladly entertain any questions you may have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Council Member
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          2  Perkins.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          4  very much, Mr. Chairman, Barron and also Dr.

          5  Stewart, Council Member/Chairman Dr. Stewart, for

          6  this very, very important hearing, at a really

          7  momentous time in our history, when we're being like

          8  bombarded with cuts and bombarded with requests for

          9  tuition increases of an astronomical type that

         10  obviously is very discouraging, especially for

         11  low-income students, and I'm wondering, despite all

         12  of that, and appreciating your support for the

         13  resolution and your clear support for inclusion,

         14  what would be the ideal approach to including

         15  immigrants into the University System?

         16                 Forget the resolution, forget the

         17  obstacles that may or may not be there, if someone

         18  said to you, you know, draft us an idea that we

         19  might be able to translate into some opportunity,

         20  what would you suggest that idea be?

         21                 Especially since, you know, the

         22  wonderful thing about the University system and this

         23  City, it's like a really immigrant City, it's a town

         24  of foreigners more or less, and ultimately it

         25  becomes a town of citizens more or less, and it
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          2  thrives because of it, and it's managed to be very

          3  flexible and adaptive to all kinds of circumstances.

          4  So, I'm just wondering, that's the reality for the

          5  foreseeable future, if not one wave then another

          6  wave of some sort or another. What can we do to make

          7  sure that present and successive ways find it easy,

          8  and without having to go to hearings and all other

          9  kind of machinations, to be included, what would you

         10  recommend in a prospective kind of way?

         11                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: If I understand

         12  your question, Council Member Perkins, I think one

         13  of the things I mentioned in the testimony was, of

         14  course, our centers, our immigration centers, and

         15  those centers are there not just to provide access

         16  to higher education for the immigrants of this City,

         17  but to assist them in any way, with any concerns

         18  that they may have in terms of living in this City,

         19  and we see that as an extension of services to the

         20  immigrant population in this City, and what we tried

         21  to do is to allow them to identify for us their

         22  needs and we try to assist them to addressing those

         23  needs.

         24                 I don't know that there is a

         25  cookie-cutter answer to that because different
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          2  groups bring about different need, so we try to

          3  assist them in meeting those needs through these

          4  centers and through the offerings that we have in

          5  the continuing education process, as well as in our

          6  colleges in the general degree programs.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what do

          8  you say to those who are like, why are we doing this

          9  for these people? I mean, these people kind of, you

         10  know, they're not Americans, they're not citizens;

         11  what do you say to them?

         12                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Well, I think

         13  that the University, as I stated in the testimony,

         14  certainly foresees itself as the University for

         15  immigrants, and if anybody has that question,

         16  obviously is not too familiar with New York City.

         17  So, I would say that that is New York City and this

         18  is New York City. And, so, it's a continuation of

         19  the process that New York is known for and has been

         20  known for over the years.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         22  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: What I would like

         24  to do, Vice Chancellor Hill, when you stated that

         25  both of you will ask questions, I thought you were
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          2  not going to testify, but you have testimony, as

          3  well?

          4                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: No, sir. I'm just

          5  here to answer questions and to assist the Vice

          6  Chancellor.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Okay.

          8                 I also have good news for us today.

          9  We checked with the Legal Department to see if we

         10  could actually take a vote today, so we can take a

         11  vote today, and that means that if it's favorably

         12  voted by this Committee that it will go out of

         13  Committee and go to the full Council at our next

         14  Stated Meeting. So, we will be voting on this

         15  Resolution today.

         16                 Council Member Seabrook.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         18  very much, Mr. Chairman. Just a follow-up question

         19  as it relates to when Councilman Perkins raised that

         20  issue. And to talk about the City University, prior

         21  to this enactment, there had been the allowance of

         22  undocumented aliens as a tradition in this City

         23  University system; is that correct?

         24                 VICE CHANCELLOR HILL: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And --
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          2                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Pardon me. Just to

          3  clarify, you know, undocumented students, there's no

          4  restriction on emissions, the issue had to do with

          5  the rate of pay for tuition.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right.

          7  Traditionally those who were undocumented, it was

          8  the tradition of the City University, also went when

          9  there was no tuition, because there was a tremendous

         10  amount of undocumented people still and were able to

         11  get quite a bit of their degrees through the City

         12  University system.

         13                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: So this

         15  really, what is the purpose or the intent? I'm

         16  confused about this legislation when it had produced

         17  a tremendous amount of people who contributed to the

         18  life and vitality of this nation and this City.

         19  There was an undocumented guy at one point who

         20  became Secretary of State of this Country, so I'm a

         21  little confused.

         22                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Just to go over a

         23  little bit of the history, as has been discussed,

         24  there's two aspects to the legislation, one I think

         25  what you're referring to has to do with removing the
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          2  federal restrictions on what a state college

          3  university can charge its students, and under

          4  current federal law it's interpreted by most experts

          5  a state cannot, with certain exceptions, as

          6  indicated by the changes made by our own State

          7  Legislature, only with certain exceptions can a

          8  state allow an undocumented student to pay the lower

          9  resident or what's called in-state tuition.

         10                 So, what's happening now under our

         11  current system, despite the benefits under the State

         12  Legislation, which allows certain high school

         13  graduates and people who have GEDs, New York State

         14  GEDs to pay the lower in-state tuition, there are so

         15  many people -- let's say a person didn't graduate

         16  from a New York City high school, New York State

         17  high school or didn't get a GED from a New York

         18  State, came to the United States as an adult, they

         19  might not be eligible for the lower tuition, they

         20  would pay the higher tuition.

         21                 So, if this federal restriction

         22  repeals the 1996, this federal law repeals the 1996

         23  restrictions, then we would be able to go back to a

         24  much more open system that CUNY has always had,

         25  which was to allow undocumented students who resided
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          2  in the State for one year to pay the same low

          3  tuition, as other residents of the State, US

          4  Citizens, permanent residents, asyles, et cetera.

          5                 The other thing is, and I think this

          6  is sort of an important aspect of the law is that,

          7  as Professor Smith pointed out, we're talking about

          8  thousands and thousands of people who are going to

          9  become eligible for financial aid.

         10                 And the number one thing I think that

         11  makes it difficult for undocumented students and any

         12  low-income student, but particularly the

         13  undocumented students is financial aid issues, you

         14  know, how do you pay for your education? And with

         15  tuition going up, if it does go up, and even if it

         16  doesn't, there are many undocumented students, even

         17  paying the lower tuition rate that are unable to

         18  attend full time because they don't receive

         19  financial aid.

         20                 Under the DREAM Act, thousands of

         21  these students will be able to become permanent

         22  residents and they will be able to participate in

         23  college life by getting the same kind of financial

         24  aid that other residents and citizens are now

         25  getting.
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          2                 Is that helpful?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right.

          4                 But it's very clear that we have in

          5  the past allowed people to go and attend the City

          6  University free of charge.

          7                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: If we were to

          8  eliminate tuition all together, then everybody would

          9  be able to go to CUNY regardless of their status.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right. But

         11  it wasn't a problem, and it has been done and it has

         12  been a precedent to have undocumented people to go

         13  in and receive --

         14                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Absolutely. And we

         15  still do. We have done everything we can to

         16  interpret the state law and the federal law in the

         17  most generous way possible. We don't know exactly

         18  how many, but a fairly large number of undocumented

         19  students were paying the resident tuition, the same

         20  tuition of students who are citizens or residents,

         21  and we have done everything, like I said we've done

         22  everything we can to educate our admissions officers

         23  and the students themselves through our immigration

         24  center, to make sure that everybody that could

         25  potentially qualify does qualify.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

          3  very much. And I'm glad that the City University is

          4  continuing to do that.

          5                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Hi, Allan, I

          9  have a quick question, which is, in our briefing it

         10  indicates this is hard to challenge legally. In

         11  other words, the fact is, is there any way to

         12  challenge legally the fact that the federal

         13  government does not allow Pell and TAP and so on to

         14  be used for undocumented students? Has there been a

         15  case along those lines?

         16                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Well, nobody who

         17  is expert in this thinks that there's any basis for

         18  challenging the federal legislation. So, most of the

         19  people around the United States who are concerned

         20  about this issue have tried to take the road that we

         21  have in New York State, which is to change the state

         22  law to, and that by the way, it's become a national

         23  movement, I mean there's maybe 30 states now that

         24  are considering in their State Legislatures

         25  resolutions, bills that would allow for the same
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          2  kind of rules that apply to New York and California

          3  to apply in their own states.

          4                 But I don't think that's going to be

          5  likely possible. I think the real key is some kind

          6  of federal remedy.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And I

          8  just want to, in terms of CUNY, I know you have a

          9  wonderful lobbyist in Washington, are they showing

         10  that it's going to be happening, this particular

         11  federal legislation? Is there some movement along

         12  those lines?

         13                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Well, I haven't

         14  spoken to the CUNY lobbyists, but the lobbyists I

         15  have spoken to are very optimistic, and my own

         16  personal point of view is that this is a real thing.

         17                 I mean, I would say given the

         18  promises that the federal administration has made to

         19  the immigrant community and their inability to I

         20  think meet most of them, and given the support from

         21  such important senators as Hatch and Kennedy and the

         22  Senate side, I think that there's a substantial

         23  possibility that the legislation will pass some time

         24  in 2004, it's going to require a lot of work.

         25                 I mean, that's why it's so important
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          2  the City Council is doing what it's doing, but you

          3  know, the real key is going to be whether the

          4  immigrant communities get educated about the

          5  potential for the legislation and take up the

          6  struggle.

          7                 I mean, we will do what we can at

          8  CUNY, and, of course, with half our students being

          9  foreign-borne, when we talk about immigrant

         10  communities, we're really talking about CUNY as part

         11  of that, and we're making every effort we can to

         12  educate our students, we've put out bulletins and

         13  done educationals, but I think that's going to be

         14  the key, because there does seem to be a national

         15  movement growing, and like I said I'm very

         16  optimistic.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The other

         18  quick question is on immigration.

         19                 Say, for instance, that I'm an

         20  immigrant student and I come in paying the higher

         21  rate because I haven't got my papers and then I go

         22  to counseling and you help me get what I need.

         23                 How does that work so then your

         24  tuition would go down to the in-City rate

         25  so-to-speak? Is that something that happens often or
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          2  not really?

          3                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: That does happen a

          4  fair amount. If a person is not eligible for the

          5  resident tuition then becomes eligible let's say

          6  because they marry a US citizen and because we

          7  assist them with the paperwork and under our current

          8  interpretation of law, once a person makes that

          9  application for permanent residence, they're

         10  immediately eligible for the lower resident tuition

         11  and then we've trained all the admissions,

         12  registrar, financial aid people to understand that

         13  rule and we continue to do that. It's a very

         14  complicated situation.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know.

         16                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: But we've done a

         17  number of trainings and we have some written

         18  materials and we will continue to do those

         19  trainings. So, yes, that's how it works.

         20                 Of course, not everyone could become

         21  a permanent resident. I mean we do the best we can

         22  but of course we're restricted by the law. If the

         23  person qualifies, we do what we can to help them and

         24  then we provide them with a documentation that they

         25  are then able to take to their administration to
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          2  reduce their tuition.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Council Member

          6  Lopez.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you for

          8  being here today, Vice Chancellor, I appreciate your

          9  presence in here. But before I say anything, a very

         10  friendly and loving reminder to our Deputy Majority

         11  Leader, you said in the beginning that they are not

         12  American. They are American but from the south side

         13  of the continent.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That's all

         15  right. Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And they, and I

         17  have to say now, nothing to do with what you said,

         18  Americans with a big A, because a majority of them

         19  have in their blood the native who populated this

         20  great continent of ours, then in saying that,

         21  sometimes it's important to remind our language, to

         22  ourselves what we're thinking.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, I

         24  appreciate the reminder.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I did not sign
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          2  to this resolution, because the piece of legislation

          3  that this resolution is trying to put forward, I

          4  have a slight problem with it.

          5                 The resolution is good, and I commend

          6  my colleagues for bringing it forward, in particular

          7  Dr. Stewart for putting it forward, but my problem

          8  with the resolution is not so much with the

          9  resolution, but with the congressional piece of

         10  legislation. It's in regard of who is it that they

         11  are willing to convert into permanent residents, and

         12  I have a serious problem with that because it's

         13  excluding children who are in second -- what do you

         14  call it now, not high school, before that? Junior

         15  high and high school, those are the likely students

         16  that are going to go into the University, then when

         17  I saw the piece of legislation, I was glad for the

         18  intent to fix something that was done wrong, but I

         19  think that the legislation should be covering those

         20  students, and I also felt a little bit uncomfortable

         21  with the way that the legislation was drafted saying

         22  that it will be geared to, and I quote, "for

         23  providing in-state tuition rates to undocumented

         24  immigrants and permitting long-time resident youth

         25  with good moral character." I really feel offended
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          2  when I read that, but so be it.

          3                 Then I'm saying this to ask you the

          4  following thing: Don't you think that that federal

          5  legislation should not be targeted exclusively to

          6  students who are already in school system at the

          7  higher education level, but this issue should be

          8  resolved from the beginning at the junior high and

          9  high school level? And that way they will come out

         10  into the University without no problems?

         11                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Without

         12  identifying any particular piece of legislation,

         13  because things move so fast, we wanted to have a

         14  general statement of support to the notion of

         15  undocumented students granting permanent residence.

         16                 The Student Adjustment Act does allow

         17  for individuals who are in the seventh grade or

         18  higher to apply for permanent residence. The DREAM

         19  Act requires high school graduation.

         20                 So, we don't even have an act now,

         21  because neither legislation has been introduced into

         22  the new congress, so there's actually no pending

         23  legislation at this time.

         24                 So, as I understand the University's

         25  position, we support the broadest possible remedy,
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          2  which would include --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.

          4                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Which would

          5  include -- we would prefer that but we wanted to

          6  make congress clear that we in general support this

          7  kind of remedy, and as the legislation, in my

          8  conversations with the Chancellor's Office, as the

          9  legislation moves forward and there are concrete

         10  bills for us to address, I am assured that we will

         11  support the most liberal and most generous

         12  provision.

         13                 So, we don't disagree with your point

         14  of view, I think that just the way we have addressed

         15  it is trying to be as broad as possible for now and

         16  be more specific as the legislation moves forward.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm glad to

         18  hear you say that, and, again, I don't want to imply

         19  that this resolution is not magnificent. It is. But

         20  somewhere somehow we need to point out that what the

         21  federal government has done with this is indeed in

         22  contradiction with the philosophy of the Republican

         23  party and the last time that I remember the Governor

         24  of the State and the President of the nation is

         25  Republican and they believe that decisions that are
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          2  important for the state should be delegated to the

          3  State.

          4                 This is in contradiction to their own

          5  philsophists, where they dictate to the state how to

          6  administer the business of the state.

          7                 It's fascinating to see those

          8  contradictions, and how they play out when the

          9  states are not allowed to, for example, put in place

         10  a solution to a problem that was created by the

         11  federal government to begin with. The problem didn't

         12  exist.

         13                 Then I feel compelled, and I feel my

         14  obligation to always call the attention of people to

         15  these contradictions, because when you see the

         16  contradictions then you understand the theory and

         17  the philosophy that they are putting out there.

         18                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         21  much, Council Member Stewart.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes, thank

         23  you, Council Member Barron.

         24                 I have a simple question. What is

         25  CUNY doing actively to assist students who want to
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          2  become citizens or permanent residents? What are

          3  they doing actively?

          4                 PROFESSOR WERNICK: Well, we have a

          5  very comprehensive problem, as Vice Chancellor

          6  mentioned, we believe it to be the most

          7  comprehensive program of any college University

          8  anywhere in the United States.

          9                 We do a number of things. First, we

         10  have a citizenship project which goes out to every

         11  CUNY campus where requested to provide citizenship

         12  services on campus. Actually, people who are

         13  permanent residents, we actually help them complete

         14  their applications and prepare them for filing.

         15                 We have coordinators and trained

         16  individuals at every single campus that's prepared

         17  to do that, and we've been doing that since 1997.

         18                 We also have three immigrant centers

         19  that provide free service to what we call the CUNY

         20  community, which is the students, the staff, the

         21  faculty and their friends and family, and we define

         22  it that way because we don't turn anyone away

         23  because they're not affiliated with CUNY, but

         24  because of our limited resources, we only market it

         25  within the University.
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          2                 Those are centers which are open and

          3  available to all CUNY students, their staff, family

          4  and their friends, and we do everything we can to

          5  counsel them in every kind of immigration problem

          6  that they might have.

          7                 So, all three of these standards are

          8  supervised by experienced immigration counsel,

          9  they're staffed by paralegals and CUNY students.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 We want to especially thank Margarita

         13  Lopez for bringing our attention to these issues and

         14  I want to remind my colleagues that this resolution

         15  is to support the concept of something that has not

         16  been introduced yet to Congress, so it gives us the

         17  ability to make some changes and amendments in what

         18  they introduce to Congress.

         19                 So, I want to thank her very much for

         20  that, and then even in the question of good

         21  character that kind of language, we also can deal

         22  with that even after we pass this resolution, but I

         23  think, Larry, before you go we're going to vote

         24  right now. We're going to vote right now, Larry.

         25  We're going to vote right now. I promise.
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          2                 And I want to say this: We want to

          3  take a vote because we have a quorum now, and we

          4  want to make sure that the concept of this goes

          5  forward and we can make changes in the federal

          6  legislation once we put pressure on them to actually

          7  introduce it.

          8                 So, I'm going to set the stage for my

          9  colleagues to take the vote at this time. Council

         10  Member Perkins, we're going to take the vote now, so

         11  if the Education Committee is one of the most

         12  busiest Committee members in the Council is on the

         13  Education, the Higher Education Committee, so we

         14  know that they wear many hats as you can see,

         15  Council Member Seabrook, we want to make sure that

         16  we get this legislation moving forward so we can do

         17  the great work that needs to be done around this

         18  critical issue for us in Higher Education, and we're

         19  going to ask the clerk to call the roll.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Barron.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I vote aye on

         22  this with pleasure and with honor.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lopez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Permission to

          3  explain my vote for one second.

          4                 I just want to make clear that I will

          5  vote yes on this resolution, because I have absolute

          6  clarity that my colleagues intended to support the

          7  concept of it, excluding the language that is not

          8  nice, and excluding the issue of the students that

          9  are at the high school level and the junior high

         10  school level. Those two. And saying that, I

         11  absolutely and enthusiastically vote yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Perkins.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: With the

         14  clarification of my colleague with regard to the

         15  Americas, I humbly and with pride enthusiastically

         16  vote yes. And thank you very much for that

         17  correction.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes, and I'd

         20  like to have my name added to the resolution. And

         21  I've actually had the opportunity to participate in

         22  some of the citizenship days that CUNY has

         23  organized, and I want to congratulate Alan and other

         24  members of the team that have such wonderful

         25  centers. Thank you very much.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of five in

          3  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          4  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council members,

          5  please sign the Committee report. Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Mr. Chairman,

          7  I have to run. But I'd also like my name to be added

          8  to the resolution.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         10  much. I want to thank my colleagues very much.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And Mr. Chair,

         12  I need to go next door because I have a piece of

         13  legislation there going right now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm sorry, to

         16  the members of the public, that I have to go. Thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, we want to

         19  thank you, Council Member Lopez, for your continued

         20  eloquent and piercing commitment to our process here

         21  and we always appreciate both you and Council Member

         22  Perkins. And I believe that concludes the questions,

         23  if anyone else has anymore questions for this panel?

         24                 We thank you very much for your

         25  testimony.
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          2                 MS. BOLANOS: Our next witness is

          3  Barbara Bowen, from the Professional Staff Congress,

          4  and Jane Chung, from the Korean American Service and

          5  Education Center. Thank you.

          6                 Is Ms. Chung here?

          7                 Please raise your right hand. Do you

          8  swear that the testimony you're about to provide

          9  before this Committee is the whole truth and that

         10  you will answer Council Member questions truthfully?

         11                 PROFESSOR BOWEN: I do.

         12                 MS. BOLANOS: Please press the button

         13  in.

         14                 PROFESSOR BOWEN: My name is Barbara

         15  Bowen. I'm a Professor of the City University of New

         16  York, and I'm President of the Professional Staff

         17  Congress, CUNY, the union that represents the

         18  faculty and staff at the City University.

         19                 Thank you for giving me this

         20  opportunity, and it's great to be here, especially

         21  among people who have become co-strugglers in many

         22  sites, it's very nice and I agree with your

         23  assessment, Councilman Barron, of the busiest

         24  committee. We certainly see the Higher Education

         25  Committee -- Councilman Stewart, also, thank you

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  very much for this opportunity.

          3                 I'm just going to speak briefly and

          4  first congratulate you on your vote, which already

          5  occurred, but I still think it's important to hear a

          6  few more voices and I will certainly be in support

          7  and brief.

          8                 Just to start, though, I wanted to

          9  commend the City Council on the legislative agenda

         10  that you unveiled, or the Speaker unveiled at Albany

         11  on Wednesday, especially its provisions on City

         12  University of New York. It's a really forward

         13  thinking agenda for the City University that not

         14  only stresses resistance to a tuition increase, but

         15  also says that there's no substitute for state

         16  funding, that there has to be a renewal of funding,

         17  and it's a beautiful legislative agenda, so I wanted

         18  to thank you.

         19                 I'm just going to speak about two

         20  things, two of the points, some of them were hit

         21  already by some of my colleagues, and but I want to

         22  speak first about the urgency of not creating a

         23  permanent underclass through legislation that denies

         24  people the chance to attend higher education.

         25                 As you know, many of you were strong
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          2  supporters last year when we worked very hard to get

          3  legislation in New York, to allow undocumented

          4  students to pay in-state tuition.

          5                 That was a great thing for New York.

          6  It has enriched the University tremendously, and as

          7  somebody who has spent her whole life teaching and

          8  is deeply dedicated to teaching, I know very clearly

          9  what it means to deny education to people. I know

         10  what it will mean to their lives and their hopes,

         11  not only not to go to college, but not even to have

         12  the prospect of going to college, and I think

         13  something that Alan Wernick said earlier was very

         14  important, that having any legislation in place, if

         15  you're an undocumented student, having any

         16  legislation in place, which even seems to make it

         17  difficult to go to college, which makes it seem that

         18  once you get to college somebody is going to ask you

         19  to sign a paper and say are you legal, which makes

         20  it seem you are going to walk right from the

         21  admissions office into jail.

         22                 Even if that's not true, that

         23  prevents thousands of students from even attempting

         24  higher education, and we're not even going to know

         25  the numbers until this legislation is past. I think
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          2  there are thousands of people who will come out once

          3  the sunshine is out and feel that that cloud has

          4  been lifted and that they can come to college.

          5                 I'd also say I'm sorry that Council

          6  Member Perkins had to leave, but he raised that

          7  question of what would be the optimum situation, and

          8  I think the only answer to that is to have free

          9  tuition. That would lift, that would lift all of

         10  these problems, and I think, in fact, it's not even

         11  that expensive. I think if we went back to the 1990

         12  funding levels for CUNY, we would be able to afford

         13  free tuition. So, it's not something that we should

         14  give up on even when we're fighting against the

         15  current tuition increase proposal.

         16                 And I want to reflect for one moment

         17  on the question that Council Member Lopez raised

         18  about the young students. My own first experience as

         19  an organizer was with migrant farm workers, and I

         20  saw their children who were young, who were six, who

         21  were eight, who were ten, who were in seventh grade,

         22  and they had no choice but to be here. They were

         23  undocumented students and they were here, and the

         24  work they did in school should earn them the status

         25  of residents, it should earn them permanent resident
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          2  status, so I think that's an important piece of the

          3  bill.

          4                 And finally I just want to flip

          5  around a little bit the argument we heard before,

          6  the students that we're considering, that they need

          7  college.

          8                 I'd also like to say as a college

          9  professor, college needs them, that we need them

         10  intellectually, and I can speak very concretely from

         11  my experience teaching at CUNY, about the kind of

         12  enrichment that the variety of students bring to our

         13  classes. It's not just some kind of vague rainbow

         14  and this all sounds so easy and so multi-cultural

         15  and so hip. In fact, it's much deeper than that, and

         16  the kind of knowledge that students bring who are

         17  part of the vast process of migration, which is

         18  maybe the defining feature of the 21st Century,

         19  waves of migration because of labor, the boundaries

         20  of the state have become porous to corporations, and

         21  corporations make use of that porousness by making

         22  labor migrate. There is a reason that we have waves

         23  and waves of migration increasingly now.

         24                 When you bring students into the

         25  classroom who represent those newest, that newest
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          2  edge of immigration, something happens

          3  intellectually, I'm not just talking about something

          4  moral or political, it's something intellectual,

          5  that a lot of people perhaps don't want to glimpse,

          6  because there's a revision of everything you knew

          7  that comes from having in the class students

          8  experienced, students who will say to you, well,

          9  America doesn't mean the United States, America

         10  means the Americas.

         11                 When you talk about the 17th Century

         12  in England, you have to think about what bearing on

         13  17th Century English culture it had, that the

         14  beginnings of the slave trade were happening right

         15  then, you cannot disconnect. And having migrant

         16  students in your class forces you to connect, forces

         17  you to change what you know and what you teach.

         18                 And so I want to speak very

         19  forcefully about the importance of the new

         20  generation of students, documented or undocumented

         21  of all the new migrant students for our collective

         22  intellectual work, our education work, as well as

         23  for their own enrichment, their own enrichment of

         24  the economy.

         25                 So, I'd like us to bear that in mind
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          2  as we talk about this and not discuss it just as a

          3  benefit to them or as an outreach to them or even as

          4  an economic benefit to the state, if it has a

          5  profound intellectual, epistemological benefit that

          6  I think some people might even, dare I say, be

          7  afraid of, and I'd like to embrace that.

          8                 So, I'd like to commend the Council

          9  and this Committee on their vote, and especially now

         10  at what Council Member Perkins just said was a

         11  lamentous time, I mean I would call it quite a

         12  terrible time, specifically a terrible time for the

         13  students we're talking about, and it seems to us in

         14  the Professional Staff Congress that the vote that

         15  you just took is a stand against creating an

         16  underclass or an undercast, it's a stand against

         17  further entrenching racism, and it's a stand for

         18  expansion and quite a daring expansion of our

         19  collective knowledge. So I thank you for that.

         20                 I'd like to apologize and say I'd

         21  love to ask Councilman Barron if any questions could

         22  be directed and then I could go. I have another

         23  meeting I'm already late for, if that would be

         24  permissible.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very
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          2  much for your testimony. Are there any questions?

          3                 Okay, thank you very much.

          4                 PROFESSOR BOWEN: Thank you very much

          5  for the opportunity.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Next testimony.

          7                 MS. CHUNG: Hello. My name is Jane

          8  Chung, and I'm from the Young Korean American. I'm a

          9  Program Associate with the Young Korean American

         10  Service & Education Center, it's a non-profit

         11  Korean-American organization based in Flushing, New

         12  York. And I came here to kind of put a human side to

         13  this whole hearing behind the statistics and all the

         14  legislative talk, but I regret to say that everyone

         15  here can't put a face to this human story because

         16  the student couldn't actually make it to tell his

         17  own story because he had class today at this time.

         18                 But this student has been working

         19  with us ever since last summer around the DREAM Act

         20  and the Student Adjustment Act, very actively, and

         21  he wanted me to come and testify on his behalf. So

         22  I'll begin his story.

         23                 When I was in high school, a few of

         24  my friends and I would sit around and talk about our

         25  life and where it would lead us. You can picture it,
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          2  right? Four guys parked outside a Seven 11 at the

          3  end of the night talking about what we'll be doing

          4  five years from now.

          5                 Every time our buddies and I would

          6  have life serious talks, I always thought in the

          7  back of my head that I would lead a life without

          8  many obstacles. Obstacles that I would encounter

          9  would be overcome with a strong support base on

         10  behalf of my family, friends and from within myself.

         11                 These memorable times with my friends

         12  wound down to a time where high school students were

         13  agonizing over college application forms. The three

         14  other boys I grew up with would joke around and

         15  debate on which schools had the prettiest girls or

         16  the best basketball team. I would laugh with them

         17  but I always had a twinge in my stomach.

         18                 I remember I used to always ask my

         19  parents about our status and what would become of

         20  it. They would always tell me the same answer that

         21  we're in the process of applying for a legal

         22  permanent residency. They were always reassuring in

         23  that sense, telling me not to worry, and just worry

         24  about what a normal 18 year old would worry about,

         25  going to college.
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          2                 I'm not sure whether it was my

          3  parents assurances, but I was able to forget the

          4  twinge I had in my stomach and was able to laugh

          5  wholeheartedly with my friends on what college life

          6  would be like.

          7                 I wasn't so much different from my

          8  buddies, being an undocumented immigrant was not a

          9  shame.

         10                 When senior year rolled around,

         11  everyone was busy filling out college applications.

         12  I always had a fascination with computers, intricate

         13  wires and programming that went behind the fancy

         14  plastic covering that would make people go wild.

         15                 After researching several engineering

         16  programs in certain universities and colleges, I

         17  began my application process.

         18                 It was then that my worries came

         19  back. I realized that as an immigrant in this

         20  country, I was not able to qualify for certain

         21  benefits that this country had to offer.

         22                 In the application form there was a

         23  space for which I had to specify whether I was a

         24  citizen, permanent resident or not able to qualify

         25  for financial aid. I wasn't able to quality for
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          2  neither financial aid nor scholarship. It was then

          3  at that moment that I felt life's obstacles in the

          4  US that my father and my whole family had gone

          5  through and will go through for many more years to

          6  come.

          7                 It seemed like a continuous clip. I

          8  pictured how tough it must have been for my parents,

          9  their struggles as undocumented immigrants, wanting

         10  what was best for their child, their hopes to raise

         11  enough money so that I could go to college. Their

         12  worries hidden behind their smile as they kept

         13  reassuring me of my Green Card.

         14                 For many college students, college is

         15  a time when you explore your life and challenges in

         16  going from maturing to a young adult. One

         17  experiences good things and bad, and use that as the

         18  foundation for the future to tackle harder

         19  challenges.

         20                 Undocumented students face different

         21  sort of obstacles, probably something that many

         22  cannot relate to.

         23                 As we begin the college application

         24  process, reality hits us hard. We are not qualified

         25  for financial aid, grants or scholarships and lack
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          2  the money to attend a four-year college.

          3                 If we are in college, we worry about

          4  not being able to qualify for internships, study of

          5  programs and workstudy. It is at this point that we

          6  are left feeling isolated as outsiders and somehow

          7  shameful of the fact that we are different.

          8                 Many parents also lie to their

          9  children about their status as undocumented

         10  immigrants. It's probably and most likely because

         11  parents want their children to concentrate in

         12  school, that is big enough pressure already, why

         13  would they want to burden their child more?

         14                 However, the biggest heartbreak comes

         15  not when a parent has to tell a white lie to their

         16  child about their status as undocumented immigrant,

         17  but when the student who might have a bright future

         18  has to drop out or give up their higher education

         19  due to financial or other difficulties.

         20                 I still have worried. My parents have

         21  worked many hours so that I can attend a four-year

         22  college and have dreams of a senior with a

         23  graduation robe and a diploma, but I know my

         24  obstacles won't end there.

         25                 It will continue as I mature into a
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          2  grown man searching for a career.

          3                 I have spent my college years

          4  excelling in my studies and have hopes of becoming a

          5  computer engineer. Please give me the chance to

          6  fulfill my dream. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, thank you

          8  very much. You certainly did us a great service with

          9  that testimony.

         10                 You know, often times, and I couldn't

         11  agree with you more, often times we in the City

         12  Council are leaders, political leaders, we see

         13  statistics, we see the term undocumented immigrant,

         14  and the human face doesn't appear when we read

         15  resolutions. So, your testimony was critical for

         16  this hearing so that it gives people more

         17  sensitivity and a greater sense of, we're talking

         18  about people here, people who have real needs and

         19  real concerns.

         20                 So, thank you so much for your

         21  testimony. Any questions?

         22                 Council member.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just want to

         24  share with you that I share your sentiment and I at

         25  one time was undocumented back in the seventies, and
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          2  I went to school as an undocumented student, paying

          3  tuition was very hard, so I feel and I share that

          4  sentiment and I thank you for coming here today to

          5  express that.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 MS. CHUNG: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We thank you very

          9  much for your testimony.

         10                 MS. BOLANOS: Okay, next is our last

         11  panel, Barbara Suaret, Orville Ingram and Minerva

         12  Moya.

         13                 Mr. Igram? Not here, okay.

         14                 Please raise your right hand.

         15                 Do you swear that the testimony that

         16  you're about to provide before this Committee is the

         17  whole truth and that you will answer Council Member

         18  questions truthfully?

         19                 MS. SUARET: I do.

         20                 MS. MOYA: I do.

         21                 MS. BOLANOS: Please state your name

         22  and organization for the record before you begin

         23  your testimony. Thank you.

         24                 MS. SUARET: My name is Barbara Suaret

         25  and I come from the Latin American Integration
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          2  Center.

          3                 Members of the New York City Council,

          4  honorable members of the Higher Education Committee,

          5  thank you for inviting me to testify at this very

          6  important hearing.

          7                 My name is Barbara. I came to this

          8  country in 1996 when I was seven years old.

          9                 Since 1996 I've been living in New

         10  York City with my mother and grandmother. Things

         11  back home were not always easy, many circumstances

         12  both at home and with the country itself contributed

         13  to our decision of leaving Venezuela and coming to

         14  live in the US. Although I still miss my homeland, I

         15  cannot see myself leaving this country and going

         16  back to Venezuela. I belong in this country. I

         17  identify with the City where I have spent the most

         18  important years of my life. Whoever called it

         19  "American, the land of the free" was right.

         20                 In the United States people who are

         21  driven have more opportunities to become who they

         22  want to be. I am sad to say that many political and

         23  economic problems of Venezuela affect the people of

         24  today their aspirations for the future.

         25                 Throughout my seven years in this
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          2  country I've learned and experienced many important

          3  lessons in my life. I've had the opportunity of

          4  attending both public and Catholic school. This has

          5  allowed me to interact with the many children and

          6  young people who are experiencing the same situation

          7  as I am.

          8                 I am currently a freshman attending

          9  St. Vincent's High School in the City, with a GPA of

         10  a B+. Graduating from high school and attending

         11  college are two of the most important goals for my

         12  future. I also hope to be able to obtain a master's

         13  degree in the fields of history and American History

         14  especially. My experience as an immigrant child

         15  living in an immigrant home has been very important

         16  in shaping my understanding of the world. I am glad

         17  that I have had the opportunity to live in two

         18  different countries, to speak two different

         19  languages and to a place where my knowledge and

         20  experience are valuable and useful. That place is

         21  New York.

         22                 As an American I know that the

         23  greatest dream of any immigrant in this country is

         24  to become an American citizen, and in this way able

         25  to accomplish the dreams we've come looking for.
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          2                 Undocumented people face many

          3  challenges in their daily life in the US today. Due

          4  to immigration policies and laws currently in place,

          5  thousands of kids like I will not have the

          6  opportunity to accomplish their goals.

          7                 I have seen members of my family

          8  struggle day after day to provide for the rest of

          9  the family while constantly experiencing poor

         10  working conditions and fear.

         11                 I know my future is at stake, since I

         12  became aware of the consequences of my situation I

         13  began to look for options.

         14                 In the summer of 2002, I became part

         15  of the Latin American Integration Center's Youth

         16  Program. At the Latin American Integration Center

         17  I've met many interesting people. I've created

         18  important friendships, and most importantly I've

         19  been inspired to serve my community through

         20  volunteer work.

         21                 In August of 2002 I helped organized

         22  a two-day weekend community event to raise awareness

         23  for the DREAM Act and the Student Adjustment Act.

         24                 During this event, the youth from the

         25  Latin American Integration Center collaborated with
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          2  other South Asian and Latino youth groups.

          3                 This experience helped me understand

          4  my situation as undocumented is not unique. In fact,

          5  many young and bright people from many countries who

          6  are living in New York City and the rest of the

          7  United States share this experience.

          8                 I also understand that the DREAM Act

          9  and the Student Adjustment Act are the only hope for

         10  me to address my status and increase the possibility

         11  of attending college.

         12                 For this reason I'm asking you please

         13  to support the resolution and to protect the rights

         14  of all children in this country, to pursue their

         15  dreams.

         16                 I want to be able to serve my

         17  community and to contribute to society with the

         18  knowledge and experience I will gain in college.

         19  Please allow me to build the future and to

         20  contribute to all future.

         21                 Thank you for listening.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just heard

         23  Council Member Brewer say you're more articulate

         24  than the whole City Council put together.

         25                 I'm glad your major is not political
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          2  science so that you won't be coming after us.

          3  Excellent. Excellent testimony.

          4                 Next.

          5                 MS. MOYA: Good afternoon. After

          6  hearing that testimony I really feel that I should

          7  just end it by saying congratulations on voting on

          8  this resolution. It's very important.

          9                 My name is Minerva Moya and I am here

         10  on behalf of the New York Immigration Coalition,

         11  which is a policy and advocacy group that represents

         12  roughly about 150 immigrant and refugee groups.

         13                 So, I'll just say it really quick in

         14  closing, the New York Immigration Coalition feels

         15  that it's imperative that the City Council and other

         16  elected officials in New York City call on the New

         17  York Congressional Delegation for bipartisan support

         18  and urge passage of this important legislation.

         19                 So, thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, thank you.

         21  I just want to ask you real quickly, does your

         22  coalition know of any movement of any congressional

         23  persons to reintroduce the legislation? Are you

         24  working with any?

         25                 MS. MOYA: Well, we worked very
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          2  closely with the National Immigration Law Center,

          3  which is the national group in DC that's taking the

          4  lead on the DREAM Act and the Student Adjustment

          5  Act, and it looks like it pretty much will be

          6  reintroduced in early spring they say, which means

          7  either the end of this month or in the beginning of

          8  March. They really don't predict any difficulties in

          9  being reintroduced.

         10                 But they feel that if passage is

         11  going to happen, it should really happen now before

         12  the summer.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes.

         14                 Council Member Stewart.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I guess you

         16  heard what Council Member Lopez said awhile ago. Is

         17  there any adjustment to that present bill that you

         18  know of that will include --

         19                 MS. MOYA: Yes, as it stands right

         20  now, the Student Adjustment Act does include junior

         21  and high school seventh grade and up and the DREAM

         22  Act includes 12 years and under 21 years. So, there

         23  is a sort of certain category, but the way the

         24  Coalition stands for, we just feel that this is just

         25  a great opportunity for those that can even apply
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          2  that it would affect thousands of students, because

          3  according to the Urban Institute, which the first

          4  professor talked about, he also iterated the same

          5  information that I did have in my testimony that

          6  unfortunately we do not have it for New York City,

          7  it's very difficult to get those statistics. But

          8  within the national numbers, it's about 50 to 65

          9  students alone, in particular to that legislation,

         10  the Student Adjustment Act and the DREAM Act.

         11                 So, just even those provisions,

         12  that's a lot of students. So, be hopeful.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Any further

         14  questions?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just to say

         16  how important it is, but also just to hear you talk

         17  as a young woman, it's inspiring.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Yes.

         19                 Well, thank you once again for your

         20  testimony, and your kind of testimony means a lot to

         21  this Committee. You know, we hear from the

         22  statistical ends of it and philosophical and

         23  ideological and strategic, but to talk to the real

         24  people that are impacted and affected by this moves

         25  us tremendously to even fight stronger for you and
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          2  to make sure that your dream becomes a realization.

          3                 So, God bless you and keep up the

          4  good work.

          5                 Thank you very much, and that

          6  concludes this hearing, and the hearing is

          7  adjourned.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 2:50 p.m.)
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